Mirae Asset MAPS Global Investments

16th Floor Mirae Asset Center1 67 Suha-Dong Chung-Ku Seoul 100-210 Korea Telephone: (02) 3774 2240 Facsimile: (02) 3774 2247 Please telephone Song ah LEE on 82 2 3774 2240 if complete transmission

not received.

Email Address

songah.lee@miraeasset.com

25/02/2008

Attention Company Announcements Platform

ASX Limited

Level 4, 20 Bridge Street SYDNEY NSW 2000

Australia

Company ConnectEast Group (attention: Company Secretary)

EastLink Operations Centre

2 Hillcrest Avenue

RINGWOOD VICTORIA 3134

AUSTRALIA

Fax No +612 9778 0999

+ 613 9955 1701

Pages

Date

45(incl. this page)

From Infr

Infrastructure Division

Priority high

Message

Title:

Number of Pages: 45

Date sent: 25 Jul 2011

Dear Sir or Madam,

Please find attached documents regarding Investor Subscription Deed & Substantial Holder Notice .

Many Thanks,

Dukyoung Moon

HORIZON INVESTOR SUBSCRIPTION DEED (Mirae)

JOHNSON WINTER & SLATTERY

Level 25, 20 Bond Street SYDNEY NSW 2000 T +61 2 6274 9555 (F +61 2 6274 9500

SYDNEY | PERTH | MELBOURNE | BRISBANE | ADELAIDE Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

CONTENTS

1	Definitions and interpretation	
1.1	Definitions	
1.2	Wholly Owned Entity	•
1.3	Control	
1.4	Nominated Affiliate	•
1.5	Horizon	
1.6	Interpretation	
1.7	Overriding acknowledgment	•
1.8	Overriding condition	•
2	Subscription Commitment	
2.1	Subscription for Horizon Securities	
2.2	Subscription Consideration	•
2.3	Issue of Horizon Shares, Horizon Trust Units and Horizon Loan Notes	•
2.4	Entry into Horizon Investor Deed and Investment Management	
	Agreement	
2.5	Standstill	
2.6	Notification of Funding Date	
2.7	Appointing a third party the Escrow Agent	
2.8	Escrow Account and Escrow Agent	
2.9	Other matters relating to Escrow Account	
2.10	Notification	
}	Conditions	,
1.1	Other Investor Subscription Deeds	
.2	Conditions to Scheme	
3.3	Amendment of constituent documents and transaction documents	
.4	Waiver or amendment	
1.5	Entry into Horizon Investor Deed	
1.6	No obligation to satisfy conditions	
.7	Result of non-satisfaction of conditions	
.8	Result of Other Investors' non-satisfaction	
.9	Provision of information by Investor	
.	Adjustment of Horizon Securities	
i, 1	Rollover Fund	
.2	Voting restrictions on Horizon Securities issued to Rollover Fund	
.3	Scale back	
	Adjustment notification	
5	Investor's indemnity	
.1	Indemnity by Investor of other parties and Other Investors	
<u>.</u> 2	Deed Poll	
.3		
	Indemnity by Investor of ConnectEast RE	
.4	Deed Poli	
.5	Application	
	Guarantee by Investor's Guarantor	,

MHH

CONTENTS

6.2	Preservation	18
6.3	Walver	18
6.4	Guarantee in favour of ConnectEast RE	18
6.5	Termination	18
7	Limitation of liability	19
7.1	Maximum liability	15
7.2	ConnectEast RE indemnity limited	19
7.3	Absolute bar	19
8	Confidential Information	19
8.1	Definitions	19
8.2	Confidentiality acknowledgment	20
8.3	Copying and security	20
8.4	Notice of breach or loss	20
8.5	Action on breach or loss	20
8.6	Disclosure to Authorised Persons	21
8.7	Obligations of Authorised Persons	21
8.8	Disclosure of Authorised Persons	21
8.9	Disclosure required by Law	21
8.10	Indemnity	21
8.11	Obligations continue	21
9	Representations and warranties	22
9.1	Mutual warranties	22
9.2	Continuing obligations	22
9.3	Acknowledgments by the Investor	22
9.4	Warranties by the Investor	23
9.5	Other agreements	24
10	Limitation of liability of trustees	24
10.1	Application	
10.2		24
10.3	Limitation of liability No action	24
10.4	Exceptions in relation to trustee	24
10.5	No authority	24
10,6	No obligation	24
10.7	Deed Poli	24 25
11	GST	25
<u>11.1</u>	GST Gross-Up	25
11.2	GST Invoice	25
11.3	Payment	25
<u>1</u> 1.4	Reimbursements	25
<u>1</u> 1.5	Adjustments	25
11.6	Definitions	25
12	Governing law and service of process	26
12.1_	Governing law	26
<u>12.2</u>	Jurisdiction	26
12.3	Appointment of Process Agent	
	*	26

CONTENTS

12.4	Replacement of Process Agent	26
12.5	Appointment irrevocable unless replacement appointed	26
12.6	Service on Process Agent	26
12.7	No limitation	26
13	Arbitration	27
13,1	Application	27
13.2	Submission to arbitration	
13.3	Arbitration	 27
13.4	Appointment of arbitrator	
13.5	Documents	27
13.6	Determination	27
13.7	Obligations	27
13.8	Confidentiality and use of information	27
13.9	Costs	28
13.10	Injunctive or interim relief	28
14	General	28
14.1	Notices	28
14.2	Assignment	
14.3	Waiver	
14.4	No merger	29
14.5	Further acts and documents	29
14.6	Counterparts	29
14.7	No representation or reliance	29
14.8	Expenses	
14.9	Supervening legislation	29
14.10	Entire agreement	29
14.11	Attorneys	30
Sched	ule 1 — Party Details	31
Sched	Schedule 2 – Other Investor Datails	
Sched	ule 3 Application for Horizon Shares	33
Sched	ule 4 – Application for Horizon Trust Units	34
Sched	uie 5 — Application for Horizon Loan Notes	35

HORIZON INVESTOR SUBSCRIPTION DEED

DATE 21 July 2011

PARTIES

Mirae Asset Maps Global Investments Co., Ltd whose details are set out in section 1 of schedule 1 (Investor).

Korean Teachers' Credit Union whose details are set out in section 2 of schedule 1 (Investor's Guarantor).

Horizon Roads Pty Limited ACN 152 097 875 whose details are set out in section 3 of schedule 1 (Horizon).

Horizon Roads Holdings Pty Limited ACN 152 097 937 whose details are set out in section 3 of schedule 1 (Horizon Roads Holdings).

CP2 Limited ACN 077 750 004 whose details are set out in section 4 of schedule 1.

RECITALS

- A Pursuant to the Implementation Deed between Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings and the ConnectEast RE as the responsible entity of the ConnectEast Holding Trust and the ConnectEast Investment Trust ("ConnectEast RE") which is proposed to be entered into on the date of this Deed, Horizon Roads Holdings proposes to acquire all of the issued ConnectEast Securities pursuant to the Scheme.
- Horizon Roads Holdings proposes to acquire the issued units in the ConnectEast Holding Trust on Horizon Roads Holdings' own behalf and will acquire the units in the ConnectEast Investment Trust on trust for the Horizon Roads Holdings Trust,
- This Deed records the Investor's commitment to subscribe for Horizon Securities on the Funding Date and to enter into the Horizon Investor Deed.
- The Investor enters into this Deed in its capacity as the asset manager of a fund that is expected to be established under the name of the "Mirac Asset MAPS Eastlink Privately-Placed Special Asset Investment Trust" in accordance with the applicable laws of Korea (Fund).
- The Investor's Guaranter will be the sole beneficiary of the Fund. The Investor's Guaranter enters into this Deed to guarantee the obligations of the Investor under this Deed, including as to the payment obligations under clause 2.

OPERATIVE PART

1 Definitions and interpretation

1.1 Definitions

In this Deed the following definitions apply unless the context otherwise requires:

Affiliate of an Investor, means any Entity which is a Wholly Owned Entity of the Investor or, if the Investor has an Investor Head Entity, any Wholly Owned Entity of the Investor Head Entity.

Aggregate Cash Subscription Price means an amount equal to the Aggregate Cash Consideration as defined in the Implementation Deed.

Associate has the same meaning as in section 12 of the Corporations Act subject to section 16 of the Corporations Act.

Authorisation includes any consent, registration, filing, lodgement, agreement, certificate, notarisation, permission, licence, approval, authority or exemption, from by or with any Government Agency and, where a Government Agency can prohibit or restrict something if it acts within a specific period after formal notice to it (for example lodgment, registration or filing), the expiry of that period without that action.

Mirae - Execution copy

Business Day means a day which is not a Saturday. Sunday or public holiday in Melbourne, Victoria.

Cash Subscription Price is defined in clause 2.2.

ConnectEast means the ConnectEast Holding Trust and the ConnectEast Investment Trust.

ConnectEast Group means the ConnectEast Holding Trust and the ConnectEast Investment Trust and all Controlled Entities of either or both of the ConnectEast Holding Trust or the ConnectEast Investment Trust.

ConnectEast Holding Trust means the ConnectEast Holding Trust ARSN 110 713 614.

ConnectEast Investment Trust means the ConnectEast Investment Trust ARSN 110 713 481.

ConnectEast RE means ConnectEast Management Limited ACN 071 292 647 as the responsible entity of the ConnectEast Holding Trust and the ConnectEast Investment Trust.

ConnectEast Securities means issued units in the ConnectEast Holding Trust and issued units in the ConnectEast Investment Trust.

Controller in relation to property of an Entity means a receiver or a receiver and manager of the property or any other person who, whether or not as agent for the Entity, is in possession or has control of the property for the purpose of enforcing an Encumbrance.

Control Interest in relation to an Entity means an Equity Interest which confers the right directly or indirectly to determine the persons who Control the Entity or otherwise cause the Entity to act, whether by exercising a right to vote attached to the Equity Interest, exercising a right of appointment or removal, or otherwise.

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

CP2 means CP2 Limited ACN 077 750 004.

Deed Poll means the Deed Poll as defined in the Implementation Deed.

Dispute includes any dispute, controversy, difference or claim arising out of or in connection with this Deed or the subject matter of this Deed, including any question concerning its formation, validity, interpretation, performance, breach and termination.

Effective in relation to the Scheme, has the same meaning as in the Implementation Deed.

Encumbrance includes a:

- (a) mortgage, pledge, lien, charge or hypothecation;
- (b) any third party interest (including a trust or an equity);
- any other security or any arrangement which gives a creditor a preferential right to an asset or its proceeds;
- (d) any agreement to grant any of them or allow any of them to exist.

Entity means:

- (a) a body corporate;
- (b) a trust (including the trustee of a trust);
- (c) a partnership; or

Мияс — Въеситов сору

(d) any other entity (other than an individual) which is recognised under the law of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated, formed or organised as being a separate legal entity,

or any foreign equivalent of any of the foregoing.

Equity Interest of an Entity means an interest which constitutes an ownership interest in the Entity or an interest in the income, capital or assets of the Entity, including:

- (a) where the Entity is a body corporate, shares in the body corporate;
- (b) where the Entity is a trust, units in the trust or the beneficial ownership of any asset the subject of the trust or the portfolio of assets which are subject to the trust; and
- (c) where the Entity is partnership, an interest pursuant to which a person has the legal status of a partner.

Escrow Account is defined in clause 2.8.

Escrow Agent is defined in clause 2.8.

Escrow Agent Appointment Date is defined in clause 2.7.

Escrow Deed means the deed proposed to be entered into by the Investor and Horizon (and which may include Other Investors) and the Escrow Agent in accordance with clause 2.7.

Fund is defined in paragraph D of the recitals to this Deed.

Funding Date means the date which is 3 Business Days before the Implementation Date.

Government Agency includes any government, or any government, semi-government, regulatory or judicial agency or authority.

A person is **Insolvent** if:

- it is (or states that it is) an insolvent under administration or insolvent (each as defined in the Corporations Act);
- it has had a Controller appointed or is in liquidation, in provisional liquidation, under administration or wound up or has had a Controller appointed to any part of its property;
- it is subject to any arrangement, assignment, moratorium or composition, protected from creditors under any statute or dissolved (in each case, other than to carry out a reconstruction or amalgamation while solvent on terms approved by the other parties to this Deed);
- an application or order has been made, resolution passed, proposal put forward, or any other action taken, in each case in connection with that person, which is preparatory to or could result in any of (a), (b) or (c) above;
- it is taken (under section 459F(1) of the Corporations Act) to have failed to comply with a statutory demand:
- (f) it is the subject of an event described in section 459C(2)(b) or section 585 of the Curporations Act;
- (g) it is otherwise unable to pay its debts when they fall due;
- (h) something having a substantially similar effect to any of (a) to (g) happens in connection with that person under the law of any jurisdiction.

Horizon Constitution means the constitution of Horizon.

Mean - Execution copy

4,

Horizon Investor Deed means the agreement so titled which is proposed to be entered into between Horizon, the Investor, CP2 and the Other Investors, the form of which has been identified by notice from the Investor to Horizon on or before the date of this Deed.

Horizon Loan Notes means the notes evidencing a loan to the Horizon Trust on the terms and conditions set out in the Loan Note Deed Poll dated 18 July 2011 executed by the Horizon Trust.

Horizon Roads Holdings means Horizon Roads Holdings Pty Limited ACN 152 097 937, a wholly owned subsidiary of Horizon.

Horizon Roads Holdings Loan Notes means the notes evidencing a loan to the Horizon Roads Holdings Trust on the same terms as the Horizon Loan Notes.

Horizon Roads Holdings Trust means the trust of that name established by a deed dated 18 July 2011 between Horizon Roads Holdings and Horizon pursuant to which units in the Horizon Roads Holdings Trust may be issued to Horizon.

Horizon Securities means Horizon Shares, Horizon Trust Units and Horizon Loan Notes.

Horizon Shares means fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of Horizon as provided for the Horizon Constitution.

Horizon Trust means the Horizon Roads Investment Trust established by the Horizon Trust Constitution.

Horizon Trustee means Horizon in its capacity as the trustee of the Horizon Trust.

Horizon Trust Constitution means the deed dated 18 July 2011 between Horizon and CP2 pursuant to which units in the Horizon Trust may be issued to the Investoror (where a Nominated Affiliate has been appointed in accordance with clause 1.4) its Nominated Affiliate and the Other Investors.

Horizon Trust Units means fully paid units in the Horizon Trust as provided for in the Horizon Trust Constitution.

Implementation Date means the date on which Horizon Roads Holdings is required to pay the cash consideration payable by Horizon Roads Holdings to the holders of ConnectEast Securities (other than the ConnectEast Securities in which CP2 or a related body corporate of CP2 has a Relevant Interest as at the date of this deed) under the Implementation Deed and the Deed Poll.

Implementation Deed means the deed so titled between Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings and the ConnectEast RE, the form of which has been identified by notice from the Investor to Horizon on or before the date of this Deed.

Investment Management Agreement means the agreement so titled which is proposed to be entered into between the Investor or (where a Nominated Affiliate has been appointed in accordance with clause 1.4) its Nominated Affiliate and CP2 Limited, the form of which has been identified by notice from the Investor to Horizon on or before the date of this Deed.

Investor means the Entity whose name and details are set out in section 1 of the Party Details.

Investor Head Entity means the Entity (if any) specified in the Party Details as being the head entity of the Investor.

Investor Trust Account means an interest bearing at call account opened by Horizon with a reputable bank in the name "Horizon Roads Pty Limited as trustee for Investor".

Law means any legislation, regulation or enforceable policy of a Government Agency or the common law of any applicable jurisdiction.

Mirae - Execution copy

Loss includes any damage, loss, cost, expense, charge, penalty or liability incurred by the person concerned, however it arises and whether it is present or future, fixed or unascertained, actual or contingent.

Nominated Affiliate is defined in clause 1.4.

Other Investors means each person named in Schedule 2 or an Affiliate of such person where it has appointed a Nominated Affiliate under the relevant Other Investor Subscription Deed in accordance with a term substantially the same as clause 1.4 of this Deed.

Other Investor Subscription Deed means each deed entered into, or to be entered into, in each case on or about the date of this Deed with each Other Investor under which each Other Investor agrees to subscribe for Horizon Securities at the same issue price as the Horizon Securities to be issued to the Investor under this Deed.

Party Details means the details of each party to this Deed set out in Schedule 1.

Pre-Funding Date Confirmation Notice is defined in clause 3.5.

Proposed Escrow Agent is defined in clause 2.7.

Relevant Interest has the meaning given in section 608(1) and 608(2) (subject to section 609 but disregarding section 608(3)) of the Corporations Act.

Representative of an Entity means any director, officer, employee of or adviser or consultant to the Entity or any Affiliate of the Entity.

Rollover Fund means a fund to be established at the request of CP2, the trustee of which will be Wilson HTM Capital Management Limited or an Affiliate, the securities in which will be the Scrip Consideration as defined in the Implementation Deed.

Scheme means the scheme described in the Implementation Deed.

Standstill Period has the same meaning as in the Implementation Deed.

Subscription Consideration is defined in clause 2.2.

Subscription Satisfaction Notice is defined in clause 3.5.

Transaction Costs of the ConnectEast RE means the actual costs and expenses incurred (whether before or after the date of this Deed) by the ConnectEast RE or any Wholly Owned Entity of the ConnectEast RE in its capacity as responsible entity of the ConnectEast Holding Trust and the ConnectEast Investment Trust in relation to the Scheme (including in relation to planning and implementing the Scheme) including:

- (a) legal, corporate advisory, public relations, accounting and other advisory fees;
- (b) internal costs of a similar kind (including director and management time costs);
- (c) out of pocket expenses; and
- (d) GST (as defined pursuant to clause 11.6) on any such costs and expenses to the extent that the ConnectEast RE is not able to claim an input tax credit.

Wholly Owned Entity is defined in clause 1.2.

1.2 Wholly Owned Entity

For the purposes of this Deed:

Mires - Executive copy

- (a) an Entity (the Subsidiary Entity) is a Wholly Owned Entity of another Entity (the Holding Entity) if all the Equity Interests and Control Interests in the Subsidiary Entity are beneficially owned by:
 - (i) the Holding Entity;
 - (ii) one or more Wholly Owned Entities of the Holding Entity; or
 - (iii) the Holding Entity and one or more Wholly Owned Entity of the Holding Entity; and
- any trustee that holds assets on trust for a Subsidiary Entity is a Wholly Owned Entity of the Holding Entity; and
- (c) an Entity (other than the Subsidiary Entity) is a Wholly Owned Entity of the Holding Entity if, and only if:
 - (i) it is a Wholly Owned Entity of the Holding Entity; or
 - (ii) it is a Wholly Owned Entity of a Wholly Owned Entity of the Holding Entity,

because of any other application of this clause 1.2.

1.3 Control

For the purposes of this Deed, an Entity Controls a second Entity if the first Entity has the power or the capacity as a legal or practical matter to determine the outcome of decisions about the second Entity's financial and operating policies having regard to:

- any rights which the first Entity can enforce, whether or not the first Entity enforces them; or
- (b) the practical influence that the first Entity can exert, whether or not the first Entity exerts them; or
- any practice or pattern of behavior affecting or relating to the second Entity's financial or operating policies,

An Entity will be taken to Control a second Entity where the second Entity is a trust if:

- (d) the person holds or owns (either alone or with its Affiliates) directly or indirectly the majority of units, securities or other rights granted by the trust entitling holders to distributions from the trust; or
- (c) the person has the power to appoint or replace the trustee or the beneficiaries of the trust.

1.4 Nominated Affiliate

The Investor may, by notice to each other party, nominate an Affiliate (a Nominated Affiliate) to discharge the obligations of the Investor:

- (a) to subscribe for Horizon Shares, Horizon Trust Units and Horizon Loan Notes under clause 2; and
- (b) to execute the Horizon Investor Deed and the Investment Management Agreement (in each case as an investor) under clause 2.

The Nominated Affiliate discharges the obligations of the Investor only to the extent that such obligations are in fact discharged. To the extent that any obligations are not discharged by the Nominated Affiliate, the Investor must discharge such obligations and remains liable for any failure to discharge such obligations. A Nominated Affiliate may include a trustee of a trust where all the units in the trust or the beneficial ownership of property of the trust is held by (i) the Investor, (ii) one or more

Miras - Execution copy

Affiliates of the Investor or (iii) a combination of (i) and (ii). References in this Deed to a Nominated Affiliate are to an Affiliate of the Investor nominated pursuant to this clause 1.4 (if any).

1.5 Hortzon

In this Deed, references to Horizon are to Horizon in its own capacity and in its capacity as trustee of the Horizon Trust, except that where references are made to Horizon:

- (a) as the issuer of Horizon Shares, means Horizon in its own capacity;
- as the issue of Horizon Securities, means Horizon in its own capacity in relation to the issue of Horizon Shares and Horizon as trustee of the Horizon Trust in relation to the issue of Horizon Trust Units and Horizon Loan Notes;
- where references are made to Horizon as the purchaser or acquirer of ConnectEast Securities, means Horizon on its own behalf as the purchaser or acquirer of units in the ConnectEast Holding Trust and Horizon as trustee of the Horizon Trust of the units in the ConnectEast Investment Trust.

1.6 Interpretation

In this Deed the following principles of interpretation apply:

- (a) headings are for convenience only and do not affect interpretation;
- (b) a reference to a party includes that party's executors, administrators, successors and permitted assigns, including persons taking by way of novation;
- a reference to a statute includes its delegated legislation and a reference to a statute or delegated legislation or a provision of either includes consolidations, amendments, reenactments and replacements;
- (d) a word importing the singular includes the plural (and vice versa), and a word indicating a gender includes every other gender;
- if a word or phrase is given a defined meaning, any other part of speech or grammatical form of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning;
- (f) the word includes and the phrase for example in any form is not a word or phrase of limitation;
- (g) a reference to \$ or dollar is to Australian currency;
- (h) a reference to same day funds in relation to a payment means that the funds comprised in the payment are available in cash on the same day as the day on which the payment is required to be made
- no provision of this Deed is to be interpreted against a party solely on the ground that the party put forward the provision or a relevant part of it;
- subject to any express wording to the contrary, if the doing of any act, matter or thing under this Deed is dependent on the consent or approval of a party or is within the discretion of a party, the consent or approval may be given or the discretion may be exercised conditionally or unconditionally or withheld by the party in its absolute discretion; and
- (k) if the day on or by which a person must do something under this Deed is not a Business Day, the person must do it on or by the next Business Day in that calendar month (if there is one) or the preceding Business Day (if there is not).

Mires – Execution copy

1.7 Overriding acknowledgment

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Deed, each party acknowledges that nothing in:

- (a) this Deed; or
- (b) any other agreement, arrangement or understanding,

between any party or an Associate of that party and any other party or an Associate of that party (a Relevant Person) relating to or connected with the subject matter of any of this Deed, the Implementation Deed and the Scheme (each a Relevant Agreement):

- confers on any Relevant Person any control over, or power to substantially influence, the exercise of a voting right attached to any ConnectEast Security;
- (d) restricts the disposal of any ConnectEast Security,

in which any other Relevant Person has a relevant interest (for the purposes of this clause 1.7 and clause 1.8 as defined in section 608 subject to section 609 of the Corporations Act) other than in accordance with, and upon satisfaction of the conditions to, the Investor's subscription for Horizon Securities pursuant to this Deed and its entry into the Horizon Investor Deed pursuant to clause 2.

Each party represents and warrants to and for the benefit of each other party that the acknowledgments in this clause 1.7 in respect of it and to the best of its knowledge, its Associates are accurate, complete and not misleading.

1.8 Overriding condition

To the extent that, notwithstanding clause 1.7, under a Relevant Agreement a Relevant Person would (but for this clause 1.8) acquire a relevant interest in ConnectEast Securities, clause 1.7 applies to the Relevant Agreement and the Relevant Agreement is conditional on either:

- (a) a resolution under item 7 in the table in section 611 of the Corporations Act being passed; or
- (b) the Australian Securities & Investments Commission exempting the acquisition under the Relevant Agreement from the provisions of Chapter 6 of the Corporations Act under section 655A of the Corporations Act,

whichever first occurs.

2 Subscription Commitment

2.1 Subscription for Horizon Securities

Subject to clause 3.5 and subject further to the conditions in clause 3.2 being satisfied, and none of the matters set out in clause 3.3 occurring, by 11:59 am (Melbourne, Victoria time) on the Funding Date the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate must apply for the number of Horizon Shares, Horizon Trust Units and Horizon I.oan Notes set out under the Investor's name in the Party Details, as adjusted by clause 4, by:

- (a) completing and delivering to Horizon a duly executed application for Horizon Shares in the form set out in schedule 3:
- (b) completing and delivering to the Horizon Trustee a duly executed application for Horizon Trust Units in the form set out in schedule 4;
- (c) completing and delivering to the Horizon Trustee a duly executed application for Horizon Loan Notes in the form set out in schedule 5; and
- (d) delivering the Subscription Consideration in accordance with clause 2.2.

Mirae – Execution copy

2.2 Subscription Consideration

The Subscription Consideration is the Cash Subscription Price, being \$69,999,999.85 (as adjusted by clause 4) and must be delivered by the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate on or prior to the Funding Date by paying or transferring into the Escrow Account the Cash Subscription Price to be held on the terms set out in clause 2.8.

2.3 Issue of Horizon Shares, Horizon Trust Units and Horizon Loan Notes

Subject to all of the Other Investors complying with their obligations referred to in clause 3.5(a) and 3.5(b) and the conditions in clause 3.2 being satisfied, and none of the matters set out in clause 3.3(a)(i) or (a)(ii) occurring, on the Implementation Date:

- (a) Horizon must issue to the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate the number of Horizon Shares which the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate has subscribed for, at an issue price of \$0.027500000 per Horizon Share;
- (b) the Horizon Trustee must issue to the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate the number of Horizon Trust Units which the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate has subscribed for, at an issue price of \$0.344841606 per Horizon Trust Unit;
- (c) the Horizon Trustee must issue to the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate the number of Horizon Loan Notes which the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate has subscribed for, at an issue price of \$0.177658394 per Horizon Loan Note.
- (d) Horizon must instruct the Escrow Agent to:
 - (i) pay the Cash Subscription Price to Horizon; and
 - (ii) pay any interest earned on that amount to the Investor;
- (e) Horizon must apply the Cash Subscription Price:
 - (i) in paying up the Horizon Securities referred to in clauses 2.3(a) to 2.3(c) so that each of those Horizon Securities is issued as fully paid;
 - (ii) then by applying for shares in Horizon Roads Holdings, units in the Horizon Roads Holdings Trust, and Horizon Roads Holdings Loan Notes, in the same number and for the same price as the Horizon Shares, Horizon Trust Units and Horizon Loan Notes under this Deed;

and Horizon must then procure Horizon Roads Holdings and the Horizon Roads Holdings Trust to transfer an amount equal to the Cash Subscription Price to the ConnectEast RE (or as it directs) as required under the Implementation Deed; and

(f) the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate must accept the issue to it of the Horizon Shares, Horizon Trust Units and Horizon Loan Notes issued to it by Horizon pursuant to this clause 2.3

2.4 Entry into Horizon Investor Deed and Investment Management Agreement

Subject to the conditions in clause 3.2 being satisfied, and none of the matters set out in clause 3.3 occurring, on the Funding Date:

- the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate, Horizon and CP2 must duly execute the Horizon Investor Deed; and
- (b) the Investor or its Nominated Affiliate and CP2 must execute the Investment Management Agreement.

Minus - Rescution copy

2.5 Standstill

The Investor must not acquire and must procure that its Nominated Affiliate does not acquire a Relevant Interest in ConnectEast Securities during the Standstill Period, other than as a result of the Investor's subscription for Horizon Securities pursuant to this Deed.

2.6 Notification of Funding Date

Horizon must give at least 10 Business Days prior notice to the Investor of the proposed Funding Date.

2.7 Appointing a third party the Escrow Agent

If the Investor so requires by notice to Horizon, Horizon and the Investor must use their best endeavours and act in good faith to appoint a third party escrow agent (the "Proposed Escrow Agent") in accordance with the terms of this Deed and the terms of an escrow deed agreed to by the Proposed Escrow Agent, Horizon and the Investor (which may include some or all of the Other Investors) (the "Escrow Deed") by the date that is 10 Business Days prior to the Funding Date (the "Escrow Agent Appointment Date") for the purposes of holding and dealing with the Cash Subscription Price and any interest carned on that amount in accordance with the terms of this Deed. The Investor and Horizon agree that:

- (a) the Investor is responsible for the fees of the Proposed Escrow Agent (or such proportion of the fees as the Investor may agree with the Other Investors who agree to appoint the same Escrow Agent under an Other Investor Subscription Deed);
- (b) Horizon is not required to provide any indemnity to the Proposed Escrow Agent under the Escrow Deed but must indemnify the Investor for any liability or loss that the Investor may suffer or incur under an indemnity given to the Proposed Escrow Agent to the extent that the liability or loss results from a breach of this Deed or the Escrow Deed by Horizon;
- (c) Horizon and the Investor must use their best endeavours and act in good faith to procure that the Escrow Deed includes provisions to the following effect:
 - (i) the Proposed Escrow Agent must not deal with the Cash Subscription Price and any interest earned on that amount other than:
 - (A) to transfer the Cash Subscription Price and any interest earned on that amount to the Investor; or
 - (B) to transfer the Cash Subscription Price to the ConnectEast RE (or as it directs) as required under the Implementation Deed and to transfer any interest earned on that amount to the Investor; and
 - (ii) instructions for dealing with the Cash Subscription Price and any interest earned on that amount must be given by written instruction by Horizon signed by two directors of Horizon, one of whom must also be the Managing Director of CP2; and
- (d) Horizon may not unreasonably withhold its consent to the terms of the Escrow Deed and its entry into the Escrow Deed.

2.8 Escrow Account and Escrow Agent

- (a) Where an Escrow Deed is entered into in accordance with clause 2.7 by the Escrow Agent Appointment Date:
 - (i) the escrow account established in accordance with the Escrow Deed will be the Escrow Account for the purposes of this Deed;
 - (ii) the Proposed Escrow Agent appointed under that Escrow Deed will be the Escrow Agent for the purposes of this Deed; and

Mirac – Execution copy

- (iii) the Proposed Escrow Agent must hold the Cash Subscription Price and any interest earned on that amount in accordance with the Escrow Deed and this Deed.
- (b) Where an Escrow Deed is not entered into in accordance with clause 2.7 by the Escrow Agent Appointment Date:
 - Horizon must promptly establish the Investor Trust Account and that account will be the Escrow Account for the purposes of this Deed;
 - the bank with whom the Escrow Account has been opened will be the Escrow Agent for the purposes of this Deed; and
 - (iii) Horizon must hold the Cash Subscription Price deposited into the Escrow Account under clause 2.2 on trust for the Investor and must not deal with the Cash Subscription Price except:
 - (A) under clause 3.7 or clause 3.8 (as applicable); or
 - (B) in accordance with clause 2.3; and
 - (iv) Horizon must ensure that terms of the Investor Trust Account are such that any instruction by Horizon relating to any dealing with the Cash Subscription Price or any interest earned on that amount must be given in writing signed by two directors of Horizon, one of whom must also be the Managing Director of CP2.

2.9 Other matters relating to Escrow Account

- (a) Horizon must not instruct the Escrow Agent to transfer the Cash Subscription Price to the ConnectEast RE (or as it directs) pursuant to clause 2.3 unless:
 - (i) Horizon has given a Subscription Satisfaction Notice to the Investor; and
 - (ii) a partner of Johnson Winter & Slattery confirms to the Investor that, to the best of his
 or her knowledge, all Other Investors have done the things referred to in paragraphs
 (a) and (b) of clause 3.5.
- (b) CP2 indemnifies the Investor against all Loss arising out of, or in connection with any instruction by Horizon to the Escrow Agent to transfer the Cash Subscription Price (other than to the Investor) or to otherwise deal with the Cash Subscription Price or any interest on that amount which is given in breach of this Deed or the Escrow Deed.

2.10 Notification

Horizon must immediately notify the investor on the Scheme becoming Effective.

3 Conditions

3.1 Other Investor Subscription Deeds

The obligations of the parties under this Deed are not binding unless, on or prior to the date of this Deed, Horizon confirms by way of notice to the Investor that Horizon and CP2 have entered into deeds (Other Investor Subscription Deeds) with each Other Investor (in a form and on terms substantially identical to the deeds provided to the Investor before its execution of this Deed) such that, taken together:

(a) the aggregate cash consideration to be subscribed for the issue of Horizon Securities to the Investor and all Other Investors under this Deed and the Other Investor Subscription Deeds is equal to the Aggregate Cash Subscription Price; and

Меве – Вассийт сору

(b) any ConnectEast Securities which are owned by an Other Investor as at the Implementation Date will be acquired by Horizon Roads Holdings.

3.2 Conditions to Scheme

The obligations of the parties under clause 2 (other than clause 2.5 to 2.9) are not binding unless:

- (a) each condition precedent in clause 3 of the implementation Deed is satisfied or waived in accordance with:
 - (i) the terms of the implementation Deed; and
 - (ii) **clause** 3.4,

in each case before the Funding Date; and

(b) the Scheme becomes Effective.

Horizon must keep the Investor informed of progress toward satisfaction of the conditions precedent in clause 3 of the Implementation Deed.

3.3 Amendment of constituent documents and transaction documents

- (a) The obligations of the parties under clause 2 (other than clauses 2.5 to 2.9) are not binding if, after the date of this Deed and on or before the Funding Date:
 - (i) any of the following documents are amended, unless the amendment is made in accordance with clause 3.4:
 - (A) the proposed Horizon Investor Deed;
 - (B) the Horizon Constitution;
 - (C) the Horizon Trust Constitution:
 - (D) the proposed terms of the Horizon Loan Notes;
 - (E) an Other Investor Subscription Deed;
 - (F) the Implementation Deed; and
 - (G) the Deed Poll; or
 - (ii) Horizon or Horizon Roads Holdings issues or transfers any securities or enters into any commitments other than in accordance with the documents referred to in paragraph (a).
- (b) If at any time after the Funding Date but on or before the Implementation Date any of the matters in clauses 3.3(a)(i) or 3.3(a)(ii) occur, then unless in the case of a matter under clause 3.3(a)(i) the amendment is made in accordance with clause 3.4, or the matter is reversed or rectified to the satisfaction of the Investor, this Deed terminates automatically and Horizon must promptly return the Subscription Consideration and any interest earned on the Cash Subscription Price to the Investor. This clause survives termination of this Deed.
- (c) Horizon must give notice to the Investor immediately before:
 - (i) the Funding Date; and
 - (ii) the Implementation Date,

stating whether any of the matters in clauses 3.3(a)(i) or clause 3.3(a)(ii) have occurred.

Мігае – Въесоноя спру

3.4 Waiver of amendment

A waiver of a condition precedent in clause 3 of the Implementation Deed, and an amendment to any the documents referred to in clause 3.3, will only be deemed to be effective for the purposes of clause 3.2 or clause 3.3 if the Investor notifies Horizon that it accepts the waiver or amendment within 5 Business Days of that notification (or in any event, prior to the Implementation Date) and if the Investor does not respond to that notification, it is taken to have rejected the waiver or amendment. Except in the case of any material amendment to the Implementation Deed or the Deed Pull, the Investor must accept the waiver or proposed amendment if:

- (a) Horizon notifies the Investor of the proposed waiver or amendment before it is made, giving an explanation in reasonable detail of the reasons why it should be made; and
- (b) the waiver or amendment would not, in the reasonable opinion of the Investor, adversely affect the value of the Horizon Securities or the rights or interests which the Investor would otherwise have as an investor in Horizon.

Any variation to the consideration payable by Horizon under the Scheme is deemed to be an amendment to the Implementation Deed that adversely affects the rights and interests which the Investor would otherwise have as an investor in Horizon.

Any waiver or amendment concerning the condition precedent in clause 3.2(c)(ii) of the implementation Deed that would expose the investor to a potential breach of the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975 (Cth) or the Federal Government's Foreign Investment Policy is deemed to be a waiver or amendment that adversely affects the rights and interests which the investor would otherwise have as an investor in Horizon.

3.5 Entry into Horizon Investor Deed

If, on the Business Day prior to the Funding Date, each Other Investor is, in Horizon's reasonable opinion, ready, willing and able, and will on the Funding Date (subject to a condition in the Other Investor Subscription Deed to the same effect as this clause 3.5):

- (a) apply for all the Horizon Securities in accordance with its Other Investor Subscription Deed and pay and deliver (as applicable) the consideration for those securities under provisions in its Other Investor Subscription Deed having the same effect as clauses 2.1 and 2.3 of this Deed; and
- (b) execute the Horizon Investor Deed.

Horizon must notify the Investor (Pre-Funding Date Confirmation Notice).

The obligations of the parties under clause 2 are released and are not binding and clause 3.7 will apply if a Pre-Punding Date Confirmation Notice is not given by Horizon on the Business Day prior to the Funding Date. If a Pre-Funding Date Confirmation Notice is given on the Business Day prior to the Funding Date but any of the Other Investors does not do the things referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b) on the Funding Date, clause 3.8 will apply. Horizon must notify the Investor immediately upon all Other Investors doing the things referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b) on the Funding Date, together with copies of:

- (c) bank statements or documentation to similar effect showing the receipt of funds paid as consideration for the issue of Horizon Securities; and
- (d) all applications for Horizon Securities,

(a Subscription Satisfaction Notice).

Мине – Взесилов сору

3.6 No obligation to satisfy conditions

Except and only to the extent of the Investor's obligation to provide information under clause 3.9, no party is under any obligation to seek to satisfy the conditions in clauses 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3. Any implied term to the contrary is excluded. Without limiting that generality, Horizon and CP2 are each free to:

- (a) determine not to proceed with the acquisition of all the issued ConnectEast Securities pursuant to the Scheme or otherwise;
- (b) waive any of the conditions in clause 3 of the Implementation Deed;
- (c) amend or agree to amend any of the documents referred to in clause 3.3(a);
- (d) waive or not enforce any Other Investor's obligations to Horizon; or
- dispose of any ConnectEast Securities in which it has a Relevant Interest or exercise or not exercise any voting rights attached to them;

and the Investor is free to:

- (f) agree or not agree to any waiver or amendment under clause 3.4 (except to the extent that clause 3.4 requires a waiver or amendment to be accepted);
- (g) accept or reject a proposal referred to in clause 3.8; or
- (h) and its Nominated Affiliate is free to dispose of any ConnectEast Securities in which it has a Relevant Interest or exercise or not exercise any voting rights in relation to those ConnectEast Securities,

at any time in its absolute discretion and without any consequence other than that provided for in clauses 3.3(b), 3.7 or 3.8.

3.7 Result of non-satisfaction of conditions

If the conditions in clause 3.2 are not satisfied, or any of the matters set out in clause 3.3(a) and (b) occur, or Horizon does not deliver a Pre-Funding Date Confirmation Notice under clause 3.5 on or before the Funding Date, or the Implementation Deed is terminated, then this Deed terminates automatically and Horizon must promptly instruct the Escrow Agent to return the Subscription Consideration and any interest earned on that amount to the Investor. Upon termination, all rights and obligations under this Deed terminate, other than rights and obligations:

- (a) arising under any of clauses 2.8, 2.9, 3.7, 7, 8, 10, 12 and 13; or
- (h) that accrue before the date this Deed terminates.

3.8 Result of Other Investors' non-satisfaction

lf:

- (a) the conditions in clauses 3.2 are satisfied,
- (b) none of the matters set out in clause 3.3(a) and (b) occur;
- (c) a Pre-Funding Date Confirmation Notice has been given under clause 3.5; and
- (d) the Investor complies with its obligations under clause 2.1; but
- (e) any Other Investor (**Defaulting Investor**) fails to do the things referred to in clause 3.5(a) and (b) on the Funding Date

Mine - Excession copy

then Horizon must notify the Investor and all Other Investors immediately of that failure and the Investor must consult with Horizon in good faith to determine whether there is a suitable alternative to the performance of the obligations of the Defaulting Investor, provided that if the Investor does not consent to that alternative or that alternative is not implemented on or prior to the Implementation Date:

- (f) Horizon must not issue the Horizon Securities to the Investor under clause 2.3 on the Implementation Date;
- (g) Horizon must instruct the Escrow Agent to return the Subscription Consideration and any interest earned on that amount to the Investor on or before the Implementation Date;
- (h) all rights and obligations under this Deed terminate, other than rights and obligations:
 - (i) arising under any of clauses 2.8, 2.9, 3.8, 7, 8, 10, 12 and 13; or
 - (ii) that accrue before the date this Deed terminates:
- each party releases the other on the Implementation Date from any obligations under this Deed
 on the Implementation Date and this Deed is deemed as between the parties to it to have been
 terminated; and
- (i) the conditions in clauses 3.2 and 3.3 will be deemed not to have been satisfied.

3.9 Provision of Information by Investor

- (a) Subject to clause 3.9(b) and (c), the investor and Horizon must promptly provide to the other all such information relating to it as the investor or Horizon reasonably considers necessary or desirable to disclose to any of:
 - (i) ConnectEast;
 - (ii) any Government Agency;
 - (iii) any financier to ConnectEast; and
 - (iv) the public,

in order for Horizon to seek to satisfy the conditions precedent in clause 3 of the Implementation Deed or otherwise in connection with the Scheme. The Investor and Horizon acknowledge that such information may be made public.

- (b) Horizon agrees to:
 - (i) consult with the Investor in good faith (to the extent practicable) in relation to:
 - (A) the extent of the information required to be provided; and
 - (B) the form, content, timing and manner of disclosure of any information provided by the Investor under clause 3.9(a) to ensure the disclosure is strictly limited to that required; and
 - (ii) take into account any objection the Investor may have in relation to the disclosure of any information provided by the Investor to Horizon under clause 3.9(a).
- (c) The Investor is not required to disclose information under clause 3.9(a) if such disclosure is prohibited by Law or by any Government Agency to which the Investor is subject.

Меж - Ехесинов сору

4 Adjustment of Horizon Securities

4.1 Rollover Fund

The Investor acknowledges that, pursuant to the Scheme, holders of ConnectEast Securities may elect to receive units in the Rollover Fund in lieu of cash consideration for the transfer of their ConnectEast Securities to Horizon and, in consideration of the Rollover Fund directing that the ConnectEast Securities of such electing holders be transferred to Horizon, Horizon has agreed to issue Horizon Securities to the Rollover Fund at the ratio of 1 Horizon Share, Horizon Trust unit and 1 Horizon Loan Note per ConnectEast Security, being 1 unit in the ConnectEast Holding Trust stapled to 1 unit in the ConnectEast Investment Trust.

4.2 Voting restrictions on Horizon Securities issued to Rollover Fund

Pursuant to the Horizon Investor Deed, the Rollover Fund is not permitted to exercise any voting rights attached to any Horizon Security which is held by the Rollover Fund.

4.3 Scale back

If Horizon Securities are issued or to be issued to the Rollover Fund as contemplated by clause 4.1, the number of Horizon Securities of each class that the Investor is obliged to subscribe or apply for, and that Horizon is required to issue (and hence the Cash Subscription Price based on the issue prices for such Horizon Securities set out in clauses 2.3(a)-(c), is adjusted by the following formula:

 $IS - (RFS/THS \times IS) = AIS$

Where:

IS (Investor Subscription) is the number of Horizon Securities that (but for this clause 4.3) the Investor is obliged to subscribe or apply for under clause 2.

RFS (Rollover Fund Securities) is the number of Horizon Securities issued or to be issued to the Rollover Fund as contemplated by clause 4.1.

THS (Total Horizon Securities) is the total number of Horizon Securities to be issued to the Investor and the Other Investors on the Implementation Date (assuming that no Horizon Securities are issued or to be issued to the Rollover Fund), which will be equal to the total number of ConnectEast Securities in issue on the Implementation Date counting:

- (a) one unit in the ConnectEast Investment Trust and one unit in the ConnectEast Holding Trust together as one ConnectEast Security; and
- (b) one Horizon Share, one Horizon Trust Unit and one Horizon Loan Note together as one Horizon Security.

AIS (Adjusted Investor Subscription) is the number of Horizon Securities that the Investor is obliged to subscribe or apply for under clause 2.

If the application of the above formula results in a fraction of a Horizon Security, the number of the relevant Horizon Securities will be rounded up or down to the nearest whole number.

4.4 Adjustment notification

Horizon must notify the Investor of;

- (a) the Horizon Securities to be issued to the Rollover Fund; and
- (b) any adjustment required to be made to the Cash Subscription Price and the Horizon Securities under this clause 4 and the Aggregate Cash Subscription Price including the amount of the adjusted Cash Subscription Price,

Mitter - Procuring copy

no later than the date that is 4 Business Days prior to the Funding Date

5 investor's indemnity

5.1 Indemnity by Investor of other parties and Other Investors

The Investor indemnifies Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings, CP2 and each Other Investor against all Loss arising out of, or in connection with any failure of the Investor to comply with its obligations under clause 2.1, clause 2.3 or clause 2.4(a).

5.2 Deed Poll

Subject to clause 7.1, this Deed is executed as a Deed Poll in favour of each Other Investor in respect of clause 5.1 such that each Other Investor has the benefit of the indemnity in clause 5.1 and may enforce clause 5.1 against the Investor even though the Other Investor is not a party to this Deed. No Other Investor has the benefit of, and it cannot enforce, any other provision of this Deed.

5.3 Indemnity by Investor of ConnectEast RE

The Investor indemnifies the ConnectEast RE against and will pay the ConnectEast RE on demand an amount equal to (subject to clause 7.2) all Transaction Costs of the ConnectEast RE in the event of any failure of the Investor to comply with its obligations under clause 2.1, clause 2.3 or clause 2.4(a) such that Implementation (as defined in the Implementation Deed) does not occur.

5.4 Deed Poll

Subject to clause 7.2, this Deed is executed as a Deed Poll in favour of the ConnectEast RE in respect of clauses 5.3, 9.1, 11 (if applicable) and 12 such that the ConnectEast RE has the benefit of the indemnity in clause 5.3 and the warranties in clause 9.1 and may enforce clauses 5.3 and 9.1 and clause 11 (if applicable) against the Investor pursuant to clause 12 even though the ConnectEast RE is not a party to this Deed. The ConnectEast RE does not have the benefit of, and nor can it enforce, any other provision of this Deed. The Investor acknowledges that in the absence of this Deed having been executed as a Deed Poll in favour of the ConnectEast RE in respect of clauses 5.3, 9.1, 11 (if applicable) and 12, the ConnectEast RE would not be entering into the Implementation Deed with Horizon and Horizon Roads Holdings.

5.5 Application

Neither Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings nor any Other Investor may claim under the indemnity in clause 5.1 in respect of any amount that may be payable by Horizon or Horizon Roads Holdings in respect of Transaction Costs of the ConnectEast RE which may be claimed against Horizon or Horizon Roads Holdings under the Implementation Deed to the extent that the Investor has indemnified the ConnectEast RE under clause 5.3 in respect of those Transaction Costs.

6 Guarantee by investor's Guaranter

5.1 Guarantee

The Investor's Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably:

- guarantees to Horizon the payment when due of all amounts payable by the Investor under or pursuant to this Deed;
- (b) undertakes to ensure that the Investor will perform when due all its obligations under or pursuant to Deed;
- agrees that if and each time that Investor fails to make any payment when it is due under or pursuant to this Deed, the Investor's Guarantor must on demand (without requiring Horizon first to take steps against the Investor or any other person) pay that amount to Horizon as if it were the principal obligor in respect of that amount; and

Мизе - Елесийне сору

(d) agrees as principal debtor and primary obligor to indemnify Horizon against, and to pay to Horizon on demand an amount equal to, all Losses arising out of or in connection with any non-payment or default of any kind by the Investor under or pursuant to this Deed

subject to the limitation on the liability of the Investor under clause 7.1.

6.2 Preservation

The obligations of the Investor's Guarantor under this Deed are not affected by any matter or thing which but for this provision might operate to affect or prejudice those obligations, including:

- any time or indulgence granted to, or composition with, the Investor or any other person under this Deed;
- (b) the taking, variation, renewal or release of, or neglect to perfect or enforce this Deed or any right, guarantee, remedy or security from or against the Investor or any other person under this Deed;
- any variation or change to the terms of, or any waiver, consent or notice given under, this Deed; or
- (d) failure to establish the Fund, or any inability of the Fund to meet a payment that the Investor agrees to make or is liable to make under the terms of this Deed.

6.3 Waiver

The Investor's Guarantor irrevocably waives and must not exercise any right of indemnity or subrogation which it otherwise might be entitled to claim and enforce against the Investor in respect of this Deed. Any agreement, waiver, consent or release given by Horizon binds the Investor's Guarantor.

6.4 Guarantee in favour of ConnectEast RE

- (a) The Investor's Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the ConnectEast RE the performance of the obligations of the Investor to the ConnectEast RE under clause 5.3, subject to the limitation on the liability of the Investor under clause 7.2.
- (b) The provisions of clauses 6.2 and 6.3 are deemed to be reproduced in this clause 6.4 with references to the Horizon being references to the ConnectBast RE.
- This Deed is executed by the Investor's Guarantor as a Deed Poll in favour of the ConnectEast RE in respect of this clause 6.4 and clauses 9.1, 7.2, 11 (if applicable) and 12 such that the ConnectEast RE has the benefit of the guarantee in this clause 6.4 and the provisions of clauses 9.1 and 11 (if applicable) and may (subject to clause 7.2) enforce this clause 6.4 and those provisions against the Investor's Guarantor pursuant to clause 12 even though the ConnectEast RE is not a party to this Deed. The Investor's Guarantor acknowledges that in the absence of this Deed having been executed as a Deed Poll in favour of the ConnectEast RE in respect of clauses 5.3, 7.2, 9.1, 11 (if applicable) and 12, the ConnectEast RE would not be entering into the Implementation Deed with Horizon and Horizon Roads Holdings.

6.5 Termination

The obligations of the Investor's Guarantor under this Deed (including, without limitation, under clause 6.4) shall terminate on the Implementation Date, if the Investor has paid all amounts due and payable by it under this Deed, and has performed all its other obligations, under this Deed on the Implementation Date.

Mirer - Execution copy

7 Limitation of liability

7.1 Maximum liability

Despite any other provision of this Deed (other than clause 7.2), the maximum liability of the Investor and its Nominated Affiliate (if any) under or in connection with this Deed or its subject matter in respect of all matters including any and all claims whether under this Deed or otherwise by Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings, CP2, any Other Investor (including pursuant to clause 5.1) or any person is limited to the amount of the Subscription Consideration less \$7.04 million (Liability Cap). Each party unconditionally and irrevocably releases the Investor and its Nominated Affiliate (if any) from any liability in excess of the amount of the Liability Cap.

7.2 ConnectEast RE indemnity limited

The maximum liability of the Investor and its Nominated Affiliate (if any) to the ConnectEast RE under or in connection with the indemnity in clause 5.3 or the provisions the subject of the Deed Poll under clause 5.4 in respect of all matters including any and all claims by the ConnectEast RE relating to the subject matters of clauses 5.3 and 5.4 is limited to \$7.04 million.

7.3 Absolute bar

The limit of liability set out in clause 7.1 or clause 7.2 (as applicable) may be pleaded as an absolute bar to a claim made against the Investor and its Nominated Affiliate (if any) to the extent that the claim (together with any other claims under or in connection with this Deed) is in excess of the limit referred to in clause 7.1 or clause 7.2 (as applicable).

8 Confidential Information

8.1 Definitions

In this clause 8:

Authorised Person is defined in clause 8.6.

Excluded Information in relation to the Investor means information that is or becomes generally available through no breach of this Deed by the investor.

Confidential Information means any and all information relating to Horizon or the ConnectEast Group (or any part of it), or any business or asset of Horizon or the ConnectEast Group, in any form or medium, including:

- (a) all commercial, financial, legal and technical information and know-how (including forecasts and projections); and
- all notes, memoranda, reports, calculations, conclusions, summaries, analyses and other materials to the extent they disclose or enable the ascertainment of any of the foregoing information, which are produced or derived by or on behalf of an Investor or any Authorised Person of the Investor.

other than Excluded Information.

Permitted Purpose means the purpose of an Investor exercising its rights or performing its obligations under this Deed or any other instrument or document relating to its position as a potential holder of Horizon Securities (each a Horizon Document), or seeking to enforce its rights under this Deed or another Horizon Document.

Record means a document or record (including a copy) in any form or medium containing, referring to, or based on any Confidential Information or any analysis of it.

Миче - Ехесиской сору

8.2 Confidentiality acknowledgment

The investor acknowledges and agrees with Horizon that:

- the Confidential Information is secret, confidential and valuable to Horizon;
- (b) it owes an obligation of confidence to Horizon concerning the Confidential Information and must hold it in strict confidence;
- it must not use the Confidential Information except to the extent necessary for the Permitted Purpose;
- it must not disclose the Confidential Information to a third party except as set out in this clause
 8:
- as between Horizon and the Investor, all rights (including all intellectual property rights) in the Confidential Information belong solely to Horizon or the ConnectEast Group (as applicable) and no rights or obligations in relation to the Confidential Information other than those set out in this Deed are given or to be implied from this Deed; and
- any breach or threatened breach by the Investor of an obligation under this clause 8 may cause Horizon immediate and irreparable harm for which damages alone may not be an adequate remedy and consequently. Horizon has the right, in addition to other remedies available at Law or in equity, to seek injunctive relief against the Investor and each Authorised Person or to compel specific performance of this clause 8.

8.3 Copying and security

- (a) An Investor must not and must ensure that any Authorised Person does not make or create a Record except to the extent necessary for the Permitted Purpose.
- (b) The Investor must use its best efforts to ensure that the Confidential Information and all Records are kept under its effective control and are secure from theft, loss, damage and unauthorised access, use and disclosure.

8.4 Notice of breach or loss

An investor must notify Horizon in writing giving full details immediately it becomes aware of any actual, suspected, likely or threatened:

- (a) breach by it of a term of this clause 8;
- (b) breach by any Authorised Person of any obligation in relation to the Confidential Information;
- (c) theft, loss, damage, or unauthorised access, use or disclosure of or to any Confidential Information or Record.

8.5 Action on breach or loss

The Investor must promptly take all steps that Horizon may reasonably require and must co-operate with any investigation, litigation or other action of Horizon (at Horizon's cost) if there is any actual, suspected, likely or threatened:

- (a) breach by any Authorised Person of any obligation in relation to the Confidential Information;
- (h) theft, loss, damage or unauthorised access, use or disclosure of or to any Confidential Information or Record that is or was in its possession or control.

Mirar - Execution copy

8.6 Disclosure to Authorised Persons

Subject to clause 8.7, an Investor may disclose Confidential Information to any of the following persons (Authorised Persons) to the extent that the person needs to know the Confidential Information for the Permitted Purpose:

- (a) an Affiliate of the Investor (including any Nominated Affiliate); and
- (b) any director, officer, employee of or adviser or consultant to the Investor or any Affiliate of an Investor.

8.7 Obligations of Authorised Persons

An Investor may only disclose Confidential Information to an Authorised Person in accordance with clause 8.6 if the Authorised Person is made aware of the confidentiality of the information and the Investor has in place effective arrangements to ensure that the Authorised Person is obliged to keep the information confidential to the same extent as the Investor's obligations under this clause 8. Any disclosure or use of the Confidential Information by the Authorised Person which would be a breach of this clause 8 if the Confidential Information were so disclosed or used by the Investor is a breach of this clause 8 by the Investor.

8.8 Disclosure of Authorised Persons

If requested by Horizon, an Investor must provide to Horizon an up to date list of the Authorised Persons to whom the Recipient has given access to Confidential Information.

8.9 Disclosure required by Law

An Investor may disclose Confidential Information if required by Law, and does not breach this clause 8 if an Authorised Person is required by Law to disclose Confidential Information. If the Investor or an Authorised Person is required by Law to disclose any Confidential Information:

- (a) subject to Law, the Investor must co-operate (or procure the Authorised Person to co-operate) fully with Horizon in taking any reasonable step required by Horizon to oppose or restrict the disclosure; and
- (b) if disclosure cannot be avoided, the Investor must to the extent permitted by Law and practicable in the circumstances ensure that it (or the Authorised Person):
 - (i) consults with Horizon before disclosure as to the form and content of any disclosure;
 - (ii) discloses Confidential Information only to the extent reasonably necessary to comply with what is required by Law; and
 - (iii) uses best efforts to ensure that any Confidential Information disclosed is kept confidential.

8.10 Indemnity

Each Investor indemnifies Horizon against any loss, cost, expense or liability suffered or incurred as a result of a breach by the Investor of this clause 8 other than any indirect, special, or consequential loss or damage, or loss of profits.

8.11 Obligations continue

The rights and obligations of an Investor under this clause 8 continue to apply to the Investor notwithstanding the termination of this Deed for a period of one year after the earlier of the termination date of this Deed and the Implementation Date.

Miree - Execution copy

9 Representations and warranties

9.1 Mutual warranties

Each party represents and warrants to and for the benefit of each other party and each of the Investor and the Investor's Guarantor represents and warrants to and for the benefit of the ConnectEast RE that:

- it is an Entity duly incorporated and validly existing under the Laws of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated, formed or organised;
- it has the power to enter into and perform its obligations under this Deed and to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Deed;
- it has taken all necessary action to authorise the entry into and performance of this Deed and to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Deed;
- (d) it has obtained any necessary Authorisation in connection with the entry into and performance of this Deed and to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Deed;
- (a) this Deed constitutes its valid and binding obligation enforceable in accordance with its terms;
- (f) the execution and performance by it of this Deed and each transaction contemplated by this Deed do not violate in any respect a provision of:
 - (i) a Law or treaty or a judgment, ruling, order or decree of a government or Government Agency binding on it;
 - (ii) its constituent documents; or
 - (iii) any other document or agreement which is binding on it or its assets; and
- (g) it is not Insolvent.

9.2 Continuing obligations

The representations and warranties in clause 9.1 are continuing obligations for the term of this Deed.

9.3 Acknowledgments by the Investor

The Investor acknowledges and confirms for the benefit of each other party that:

- (a) it is a person whose ordinary business it is to make financial investments, whether as principal or agent, and subject to clause 3.2 it is permitted by Law to participate in the transactions contemplated in this Deed as the Investor;
- (b) it has been, and will continue to be, solely responsible for making its own independent appraisal and investigation of all risks arising under or in connection with this Deed including but not limited to:
 - the financial condition, status and nature of ConnectEast and the ConnectEast Securities;
 - the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy or enforceability of this Deed and any
 other agreement, security, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed
 in anticipation of, under or in connection with this Deed;
 - (iii) whether it has recourse, and the nature and extent of that recourse, against any person or any of its respective assets under or in connection with this Deed and the transactions contemplated by this Deed or any other agreement, security arrangement

Мине – Елеонию сору

or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with this Deed; and

- (iv) the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the information provided by Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings, CP2, any Representative of any of them or by any other person acting on their behalf under or in connection with this Deed and the transactions contemplated by this Deed or any other agreement, security, arrangement or document entered into, made or executed in anticipation of, under or in connection with this Deed;
- it has had access to all information that it believes is necessary or appropriate in connection with the transactions contemplated in this Deed and loss conducted its own independent investigation and assessment of the merits of its investment under this Deed, including seeking specific advice from experts, and making such additional enquiries as it deems necessary or appropriate;
- except to the extent expressly provided under the terms of this Deed or to the extent to which reliance has been expressly extended to the Investor by agreement in writing between the Investor and Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings, CP2 or any Representative of any of them or any person acting on their behalf (as applicable), it has not relied on any investigation that Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings, CP2 or any Representative of any of them or any other person acting on their behalf may have conducted with respect to the transactions contemplated in this Deed and has not relied on materials or advice provided by Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings, CP2 or any Representative of any of them, including in the form of oral communications or advisors reports or opinions;
- it has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its participation in the transactions contemplated in this Deed; and
- (f) it has no need for liquidity with respect to its investment contemplated in this Deed.

Each other party acknowledges and confirms that it has no right of action against the Investor in respect of any of the statements of the Investor in this clause 9.3 unless the Investor makes a claim which is inconsistent with the statements of the Investor in this clause 9.3 (other than to claim a breach of clause 9.1 by another party), it being the intention that the Investor may not make a claim (other than for a breach of clause 9.1) which is inconsistent with the statements by the Investor in this clause 9.3.

9.4 Warranties by the Investor

The Investor represents and warrants to and for the benefit of each other party that:

- as at the Implementation Date (only) if it, or any person on whose behalf it is acquiring Horizon Securities is in Australia, it is a professional investor for the purposes of section 761G(7)(d) of the Corporations Act;
- (b) if it, or any person on whose behalf it is acquiring Horizon Securities, is outside Australia, it is a person to whom those securities may lawfully be offered and sold in compliance with applicable Laws without lodgement, registration or other formality;
- (c) it is not a U.S. Investor being for the purposes of this Deed a person who is in the United States, or who is a U.S. person (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act 1993 (as amended) (the Securities Act)), or who is acting for the account or benefit of a U.S. person;
- (d) it has disclosed to Horizon immediately prior to the date of this Deed details of the CoonectEast Securities in which it:
 - (i) has a Relevant laterest as at the date of this Deed; and
 - (ii) has acquired a Relevant Interest at any time during the 4 months prior to the date of this Deed.

Mires - Execution copy

9.5 Other agreements

Clause 9.3 does not limit, reduce or otherwise affect:

- the obligations of CP2 under the Investment Management Agreement or any other agreement between the Investor and CP2; or
- (b) the ability of the Investor to rely on the advice of any person to the extent that reliance has been expressly extended to the Investor by agreement in writing between the Investor and the relevant person.

10 Limitation of liability of trustees

10.1 Application

Clauses 10.2 to 10.6 apply if a party is the trustee of a trust, or any Nominated Affiliate is the trustee of a trust, and that trust has been disclosed for this purpose to the other parties (including by referring to the relevant trust in the Party Details or otherwise by giving notice under clause 14.1).

10.2 Limitation of liability

Despite any provision of this Deed, a liability arising under or in connection with this Deed is limited to and can be enforced against the trustee only to the extent to which it can be satisfied out of property of the trust out of which the trustee is actually indemnified for the liability. This limitation of liability extends to all liabilities and obligations of the trustee in any way connected with any representation, warranty, conduct, omission, agreement or transaction under or related to this Deed.

10.3 No action

No other party to this Deed may sue the trustee in any capacity other than as trustee of the trust, including to:

- (a) seek the appointment of a Controller or any similar person to the trustee; or
- (b) prove in any liquidation, administration or arrangement of or affecting the trustee personally,

except in relation to property of the trust.

10.4 Exceptions in relation to trustee

The provisions of this clause 10 do not apply to any obligation or liability of the trustee to the extent that it is not satisfied because under the document establishing the trust or by operation of Law there is a reduction in the extent of the trustee's indemnification out of the assets of the trust as a result of the trustee's fraud, negligence or wilful default.

10.5 No authority

No attorney or agent appointed in accordance with this Deed has authority to act on behalf of the trustee in a way which exposes the trustee to any personal liability and no act or omission of any such person will be considered fraud, negligence or wilful default of the trustee for the purpose of clause 10.4.

10.6 No obligation

The trustee is not obliged to do or refrain from doing anything under this Deed (including incur any liability) unless the trustee's liability is limited in the same manner as set out in this clause 10.

Mirar - Execution copy

10.7 Deed Poll

The parties agree that clauses 7 and 10 take effect as a deed poll for the benefit of the Nominated Affiliate (if any) and may be enforced by that Nominated Affiliate as if that person was a party to the Deed for the purposes of clauses 7 and 10 (only).

11 **GST**

11.1 GST Gross-Up

If a party (supplier) is required to pay GST in respect of a supply made under or in connection with (including by reason of a breach of) this Deed, the recipient of the supply must (in addition to any other payment for, or in connection with, the supply) pay to the supplier an amount equal to such GST (GST gross-up).

11.2 GST Invoice

If a GST gross up is payable, then the supplier must give the recipient a tax invoice for the supply.

11.3 Payment

Provided a tax invoice has been given, the GST gross-up must be paid by the recipient:

- if any monetary consideration is payable for the supply, at the same time and in the same manner as such monetary consideration;
- (b) if no monetary consideration is payable for the supply within 10 Business Days after the day on which the tax invoice is given.

11.4 Reimbursements

If any payment to be made to a party under or in connection with this Deed is a reimbursement or indemnification of an expense or other liability incurred or to be incurred by that party, then the amount of the payment must be reduced by the amount of any input tax credit to which that party is entitled for that expense or other liability, such reduction to be effected before any increase in accordance with clause 11.1.

11.5 Adjustments

If an adjustment event has occurred in respect of a supply made under or in connection with this Deed, any party that becomes aware of the occurrence of that adjustment event must notify the other party as soon as practicable, and the parties agree to take whatever steps are necessary (including to issue an adjustment Note), and to make whatever adjustments are required, to ensure that any GST or additional GST on that supply, or any refund of GST (or part thereof), is paid no later than 20 Business Days after the supplier first becomes aware that the adjustment event has occurred.

11.6 Definitions

- (a) Terms used in this clause 11 which are defined in the A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth) have the meaning given to them in that Act.
- (b) In this clause, a reference to a payment includes any payment of money and any form of consideration other than payment of money.
- (c) In this Deed, all references to payments and obligations to make payments, including all references to compensation (including by way of reimbursement or indemnity), are, but for the operation of this clause, exclusive of GST.

Miras - Execution copy

12 Governing law and service of process

12.1 Governing law

This Deed is governed by and must be construed according to the Law applying in Victoria, Australia.

12.2 Jurisdiction

Each party irrevocably:

- submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Victoria, Australia and the courts competent to determine appeals from those courts, with respect to any proceedings that may be brought at any time relating to any failure of any party to comply with its obligations under clauses 2.1, 2.3 or 2.4(a) of this Deed; and
- (b) subject to clause 13, waives any objection it may now or in the future have to the venue of any proceedings, and any claim it may now or in the future have that any proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum, if that venue falls within clause 12.2(a).

12.3 Appointment of Process Agent

Each party to this Deed that is not a company incorporated in Australia or registered as a foreign company under the Corporations Act (Offshore Investor) appoints the person named as 'Process Agent' against its name in the Party Details as its agent to receive on its behalf service of any process in any proceedings in Australia relating to any matter relating to any failure of the Investor to comply with its obligations under clauses 2.1, 2.3 or 2.4(a) of this Deed.

12.4 Replacement of Process Agent

Each Offshore Investor:

- (a) may from time to time appoint a replacement Process Agent by giving notice to each other party;
- (b) acknowledges that services will be taken to be completed on delivery to the Process Agent or any replacement Process Agent (whether or not it is forwarded to the relevant Offshore Investor); and
- (c) if for any reason the Process Agent or any replacement Process Agent ceases to be able to act, or ceases to have an address in Australia, agrees to appoint a substitute Process Agent able to act and with an address in Australia and to notify each other party of that new Process Agent's acceptance of that appointment and its identity and address.

12.5 Appointment irrevocable unless replacement appointed

An Offsbore Investor must not revoke the appointment of the Process Agent or any replacement Process Agent without the simultaneous appointment of a replacement Process Agent, and any purported revocation in breach of this clause 12.5 is of no effect.

12.6 Service on Process Agent

Each Offshore Investor consents to any process in any proceedings in Australia relating to any matter relating to any failure of the Investor to comply with its obligations under clauses 2.1, 2.3 or 2.4(a) of this Deed being served in accordance with clause 12.4

12.7 No limitation

Nothing in this Deed limits a party's rights to serve process in any other manner permitted by Law.

Mirae - Executive copy

13 Arbitration

13.1 Application

This clause 13 has no application in relation to proceedings relating to:

- (a) any failure of the Investor to comply with its obligations under clause 2.1, 2.3 or 2.4(a) of this Deed; or
- (b) the indemnities in clause 5 of this Deed.

13.2 Submission to arbitration

Subject to clause 13.1, if a Dispute arises then that Dispute is hereby submitted to arbitration in accordance with the requirements and procedures set out in this clause.

13.3 Arbitration

If a Dispute arises, it is to proceed to and be finally resolved by arbitration in accordance with the Australian Centre for International Commercial Arbitration ("ACICA") International Arbitration Rules in effect at the time of the submission to arbitration. The seat of arbitration will be Melbourne, Victoria. The arbitration tribunal is to consist of three arbitrators. The language of the arbitration will be English.

13.4 Appointment of arbitrator

The Investor and Horizon shall each appoint one arbitrator and the third arbitrator will be appointed jointly by both the Investor and Horizon with mutual agreement as the presiding arbitrator. If either party fails to nominate its arbitrator or the parties cannot agree on the presiding arbitrator within 20 Business Days of the Dispute proceeding to arbitration, that arbitrator is to be appointed by ACICA.

13.5 Documents

Neither party shall be required to give general discovery of documents, but may be required to produce specific, identified documents that are relevant to the Dispute.

13.6 Determination

The parties agree to request the arbitrator to make their determination within three months after the Dispute was referred to arbitration, however any determination made after this timeframe will not be invalid merely because it was issued after the three month time period. The arbitral award will be final and binding upon the parties.

13.7 Obligations

Unless the parties otherwise agree in writing or until the arbitrator hands down an award, the parties are obliged to fulfill their obligations under this Deed.

13.8 Confidentiality and use of information

Any information or documents disclosed by a party under this clause 13:

- (a) must be kept confidential; and
- (b) may only be used to attempt to resolve the Dispute (including use in the arbitration) or in relation to this Deed.

Mirae - Esecution enpy

13.9 Costs

Each party must pay its own costs of complying with this clause 13. The parties must equally pay the costs of any arbitrator.

13.10 Injunctive or interim relief

Nothing in this clause prevents a party to this Dood seeking urgent injunctive or similar interim relief from a court in aid of arbitration.

14 General

14.1 Notices

Each communication (including each notice, consent, approval, request and demand) under or in connection with this Deed:

- (a) must be in writing:
- (b) must be addressed to the address of the addressee as set out in the Party Details;
- (c) must be signed by the party making it or (on that party's behalf) by a director, secretary or authorized agent of the party;
- (d) must be delivered by hand or posted by prepaid post to the address, or sent by fax or email to the number or address of the addressee, in accordance with clause 14.1(b);
- if sent by email must be followed-up with a copy of the communication also delivered by hand, posted by prepaid post or sent by fax (the **Duplicate Communication**); and
- (f) is taken to be received by the addressee:
 - in the case of prepaid post sent to an address in the same country, on the third day after the date of posting;
 - in the case of prepaid post sent to an address in another country, on the fifth day after the date of posting by airmail;
 - (iii) in the case of fax, at the time in the place to which it is sent equivalent to the time shown on the transmission confirmation report produced by the fax machine from which it was sent:
 - (iv) in the case of email, when the Duplicate Communication is taken to have been received; and
 - (v) in the case of delivery by hand, on delivery.

14.2 Assignment

- (a) A party is not permitted to assign its rights under this Deed, except as permitted under Clause 14.2 (b).
- (b) The Investor may by notice in writing to Horizon assign its rights, obligations, title, benefits and interests under this Deed to the trustee of the Fund.

14.3 Waiver

(a) Failure to exercise or enforce, or a delay in exercising or enforcing, or the partial exercise or enforcement of, a right, power or remedy provided by Law or under this Deed by a party does

Mirat - Execution copy

not preclude, or operate as a waiver of, the exercise or enforcement, or further exercise or enforcement, of that or any other right, power or remedy provided by Law or under this Deed.

- (b) A waiver or consent given by a party under this Deed is only effective and binding on that party if it is given or confirmed in writing by that party.
- (c) No waiver of a breach of a term of this Deed operates as a waiver of another breach of that term or of a breach of any other term of this Deed.

14.4 No merger

The rights and obligations of the parties will not merge on completion of any transaction under this Deed. They will survive the execution and delivery of any other document entered into for the purpose of implementing any transaction.

14.5 Further acts and documents

Each party must promptly do all further acts and execute and deliver all further documents (in form and content reasonably satisfactory to that party) required by Law or reasonably requested by another party to give effect to this Deed.

14.6 Counterparts

This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the parties on separate counterparts. Each counterpart constitutes the deed of each party who has executed and delivered that counterpart.

14.7 No representation or reliance

Each party acknowledges and confirms that:

- no party (nor any person acting on a party's behalf) has made any representation or other inducement to it to enter into this Deed, except for representations or inducements expressly set out in this Deed;
- (b) it does not enter into this Deed in reliance on any representation or other inducement by or on behalf of any other party, except for representations or inducements expressly set out in this Deed.

14.8 Expenses

Each party is responsible for its own legal and other costs associated with the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Deed.

14.9 Supervening legislation

Any present or future Law which operates to vary the obligations of a party in connection with this Deed with the result that another party's rights, powers or remedies are adversely affected (including, by way of delay or postponement) is excluded except to the extent that its exclusion is prohibited or rendered ineffective by Law.

14.10 Entire agreement

To the extent permitted by Law, in relation to its subject matter, this Deed:

- (a) embodies the entire understanding of the parties, and constitutes the entire terms agreed by the parties; and
- (b) supersedes any prior written or other agreement of the parties.

Mass - Execution copy

14.11 Attorneys

Where this Deed is executed by a party as the party's attorney under a power of attorney, the attorney warrants that the attorney is duly appointed and has no notice of revocation of the power of attorney.

Mirat – barculos copy

DHH

Schedule 1 - Party Details

Section 1 - Investor

Name:

Mirae Asset Maps Global Investments Co., Ltd

Address:

East Tower 16F Mirae Asset CENTER 1, 67 Suha-dong, Jung-gu,

Seoul, 100-210, Korea

Fax:

(822) 3774-2247

Attention:

Won Kim

Email:

wonster@miracasset.com

Process Agent:

Shane Kyriakou of Freehills,

Level 43, 101 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Horizon Shares:

127,272,727

Horizon Trust Units:

127,272,727

Horizon Loan Notes:

127,272,727

Section 2 - Investor's Guarantor

Name:

Korea Teachers' Credit Union

Address:

35-3 Youldo-dong, Youngdungpo-gu, Seoul, 150-704, Korea

Fax:

(822) 767-0161

Attention:

Heo, Dae Haeng

Email:

dhbco@ktcu.or.kr and shice@ktcu.or.kr

Process Agent:

Shane Kyriakou of Freehills,

Level 43, 101 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Section 3 - Horizon and Horizon Roads Holdings

Address:

Level 8 Aurora Place, 88 Phillip Street, Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Email:

sbone@cp2.com and telliott@cp2.com

Fax:

(612) 8274 5999

Attention:

Syd Bone

Section 4 - CP2

Address:

Level 8 Aurora Place, 88 Phillip Street, Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Email:

abone@cp2.com and telliott@cp2.com

Fax:

(612) 8274 5999

Attention:

Syd Bone

Mitrae - Execution empy

Schedule 2 - Other Investor Details

Other Investors are the following Entities other than the Investor under this Deed:

Arbejdsmarkedets Tillaegspension CVR-No. 43405810

Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited as sole corporate trustee of the Universities Superannuation Scheme Reg. No. 1167127

Mirae Asset Maps Global Investments Co., Ltd in its capacity as asset manager of a fund that is expected to be established under the name of "Mirae Asset MAPS Eastlink Privately-Placed Special Asset Investment Trust"

National Pension Service

Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America

Stichting Depositary APG Infrastructure Pool 2011 as depositary of APG Infrastructure Pool 2011

Leader Investment Corporation

Guardians of New Zealand Superannuation as manager and administrator of the New Zealand Superannuation Fund

CP2 Limited ACN 077 750 004 in its capacity as trustee of the CP2 Endeavour Fund

Terdot Pty Limited ACN 060 865 063

Schedule 3 - Application for Horizon Shares

TO: Horizon Roads Pty Limited ACN 152 097 875

Reference is made to the Subscription Deed dated # July 2011. Capitalised terms (including terms referring to parties) used in this document but not defined have the meaning given to them in the Subscription Deed.

The Investor [if applicable, the Nominated Affiliate] hereby applies for Horizon Shares in the number, subject to adjustment in accordance with clause 4 of the Subscription Deed, and for the issue price per Horizon Share specified in the Subscription Deed and agrees to be bound by the Horizon Constitution.

[Execution clause of Investor or, if applicable, the Nominated Affiliate]

Dated # 2011

Schedule 4 - Application for Horizon Trust Units

TO: Horizon Roads Pty Limited ACN 152 097 875 in its capacity as trustee of the Horizon Trust

Reference is made to the Subscription Deed dated # July 2011. Capitalised terms (including terms referring to parties) used in this document but not defined have the meaning given to them in the Subscription Deed.

The Investor [if applicable, the Nominated Affiliate] hereby applies for Horizon Trust Units in the number, subject to adjustment in accordance with clause 4 of the Subscription Deed, and for the issue price per Horizon Trust Unit specified in the Subscription Deed and agrees to be bound by the Horizon Trust Constitution.

[Execution clause of Investor or, if applicable, the Nominated Affiliate]

Dated # 2011

Schedule 5 - Application for Horizon Loan Notes

TO: Horizon Roads Pty Limited ACN 152 097 875 in its capacity as trustee of the Horizon Trust

Reference is made to the Subscription Deed dated # July 2011. Capitalised terms (including terms referring to parties) used in this document but not defined have the meaning given to them in the Subscription Deed.

The Investor [if applicable, the Nominated Affiliate] hereby applies for Horizon Loan Notes in the number subject to adjustment in accordance with clause 4 of the Subscription Deed, and for the issue price per Horizon Loan Note specified in the Subscription Deed and agrees to be bound by the Loan Note Deed Poll dated # 2011 executed by the Horizon Trustee.

[Execution clause of Investor or, if applicable, the Nominated Affiliate]

Dated # 2011

EXECUTED as a deed.

EXECUTED by MIRAE ASSET MAPS GLOBAL INVESTMENTS CO., LTD, in its capacity as asset manager of a fund that is expected to be established under the name of "Mirae Asset MAPS Eastlink Privately-Placed Special Asset Investment Trust":

Wesley Won Kim Managing Director

EXECUTED by KOREAN TEACHERS' CREDIT UNION, solely in its capacity as Investor's Guarantor:

Dae Haeng Heo Deputy General Manager

in accordance with section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 by:)	
Director		Director/Secretary
Name (BLOCK LETTERS)		Name (BLOCK LETTERS)
EXECUTED by HORIZON ROADS HOLDINGS PTY LTD in accordance with section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 by:)	
Director		Director/Secretary
Name (BLOCK LETTERS)		Name (BLOCK LETTERS)

EXECUTED by CP2 LIMITED in accordance with section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 by:)))
Director	Director/Secretary
Name (BLOCK LETTERS)	Name (BLOCK LETTERS)

Mirat - Executing one

Form 603

Corporations Act 2001 Section 671B

Notice of initial substantial holder

Company Name/Scheme

ConnectEast Group comprising ConnectEast Management Limited ACN 071 292 647 as responsible entity of the ConnectEast Investment Trust ARSN 110 713 481 (CEIT) and the ConnectEast Holding Trust ARSN 110 713 614 (CEHT)

Details of substantial holder (1)

llme

Mirae Asset Maps Global Investments Co., Ltd.

holder became a substantial holder on

21 / 7 / 2011.

Details of voting power

the total number of votes attached to all the voting shares in the company or voting interests in the scheme that the substantial holder or an associate (2) are evant interest (3) in on the date the substantial holder became a substantial holder are as follows:

Class of securities (4)	Number of securities	Persons' votes (5)	Voting power (6)
Stapled securities comprising one unit in CEIT and one unit in CEHT	1,379,376,270	1,379,376,270	35.01%

Details of relevant interests

nature of the relevant interest the substantial holder or an associate had in the following voting securities on the date the substantial holder became abstantial holder are as follows:

Holder of relevant interest	Nature of relevant interest (7)	Class and number of securities
CP2 Limited ACN 077 750 004 (CP2) and its related bodies corporate and related entities (CP2 Group), including Horizon Roads Pty Limited ACN 152 097 875 (Horizon), Horizon Roads Holdings Pty Limited ACN 152 097 937 (Horizon Roads Holdings) and Terdot Pty Limited ACN 060 865 063 (Terdot)	CP2 as investment manager for CP2 managed funds under section 608(1). Other CP2 Group entities under section 608(3).	1,379,376,270

Details of present registered holders

persons registered as holders of the securities referred to in paragraph 3 above are as follows:

Holder of relevant interest	Registered holder of securities	Person entitled to be registered as holder (8)	Class and number of securities
CP2 Group	National Australia Nominees Ltd.	N/A	983,493,926
CP2 Group	HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Ltd.	N/A	367,979,621
CP2 Group	CP2	N/A	17,606,811
CP2 Group	Terdot	N/A	10,296,912

Consideration

consideration paid for each relevant interest referred to in paragraph 3 above, and acquired in the four months prior to the day that the substantial er became a substantial holder is as follows:

Holder of relevant interest	Date of acquisition	Consideration (9)		Class and number of securities
		Cash	Non-cash	"-"
N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

2/2

603

15 July 2001

Associates

reasons the persons named in paragraph 3 above are associates of the substantial holder are as follows:

Name and ACN/ARSN (if applicable)	Nature of association
CP2 and Horizon	Under section 12(2(c). Mirae Asset Maps Global Investments Co., Ltd (in its capacity as asset manager of a fund that is expected to be established under the name of "Mirae Asset MAPS Eastlink Privately-Placed Special Asset Investment Trust") has entered into a deed titled Horizon Investor Subscription Deed with CP2, Horizon, Horizon Roads Holdings and Korean Teachers Credit Union dated 21 July 2011 (attached as Annexure A) pursuant to which it is proposed to agree arrangements for the governance of ConnectEast Group upon completion of a proposed acquisition of all the stapled securities of ConnectEast Group by Horizon Roads Holdings pursuant to a scheme announced by ConnectEast Group on 22 July 2011.

Addresses

addresses of persons named in this form are as follows:

Name	Address
Mirae Asset Maps Global Investments Co., Ltd	East Tower 16F Mirae Asset Center 1, 67 Suha-dong, Jung-gu, Seoul 100-210, Korea
CP2 Limited/CP2 Group/Terdot Pty Limited	Level 8, Aurora Place, 88 Phillip Street, Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

bnature

print name

WESLEY WON KIM

capacity

Managing Director

sign here

date 25 / 7/2011

DIRECTIONS

If there are a number of substantial holders with similar or related relevant interests (eg. a corporation and its related corporations, or the manager and trustee of an equity trust), the names could be included in an annexure to the form. If the relevant interests of a group of persons are essentially similar, they may be referred to throughout the form as a specifically named group if the membership of each group, with the names and addresses of members is clearly set out in paragraph 7 of the form.

See the definition of "associate" in section 9 of the Corporations Act 2001.

See the definition of "relevant interest" in sections 608 and 671B(7) of the Corporations A.

The voting shares of a company constitute one class unless divided into separate classes.

The total number of votes attached to all the voting shares in the company or voting interests in the scheme (if any) that the person or an associate has a relevant interest in.

The person's votes divided by the total votes in the body corporate or scheme multiplied by 100.

Include details of:

- any relevant agreement or other circumstances by which the relevant interest was acquired. If subsection 671B(4) applies, a copy of any (a)document setting out the terms of any relevant agreement, and a statement by the person giving full and accurate details of any contract, scheme or arrangement, must accompany this form, together with a written statement certifying this contract, scheme or arrangement; and
- any qualification of the power of a person to exercise, control the exercise of, or influence the exercise of, the voting powers or disposal of the securities to which the relevant interest relates (indicating clearly the particular securities to which the qualification applies).

See the definition of "relevant agreement" in section 9 of the Corporations Act 2001.

If the substantial holder is unable to determine the identity of the person (eg. If the relevant interest arises because of an option) write "unknown".

Details of the consideration must include any and all benefits, money and other, that any person from whom a relevant interest was acquired has, or may, become entitled to receive in relation to that acquisition. Details must be included even if the benefit is conditional on the happening or not of a contingency. Details must be included of any benefit paid on behalf of the substantial holder or its associate in relation to the acquisitions, even if they are not paid directly to the person from whom the relevant interest was acquired.

JUL 25 2011 17:10 MIRAEASSET MAPS

0232715170

Page 45 of 45

Annexure A

This page and the following 41 pages is Annexure A referred to in the Form 603 Notice of initial substantial holder by Mirae Asset Maps Global Investments Co., Ltd signed by me and dated 25 July 2011,

WESLEY WON KIM